Eastern Illinois University

The Keep

Masters Theses

Student Theses & Publications

Spring 2022

A Case Study on Illinois Regional Public Universities and the 2015-2017 Budget Impasse

Colin L. Roberts Eastern Illinois University

Follow this and additional works at: https://thekeep.eiu.edu/theses



Part of the Higher Education Administration Commons

Recommended Citation

Roberts, Colin L., "A Case Study on Illinois Regional Public Universities and the 2015-2017 Budget Impasse" (2022). Masters Theses. 4938.

https://thekeep.eiu.edu/theses/4938

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Student Theses & Publications at The Keep. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of The Keep. For more information, please contact tabruns@eiu.edu.

A Case Study on Illinois Regional Public Universities $and\ the\ 2015\mbox{-}2017\ Budget\ Impasse$

Colin L. Roberts

Counseling and Higher Education

Eastern Illinois University

ABSTRACT

This study explores the lived experiences of administrators who led their institutions through the two-year Illinois budget impasse. This study also reviewed archival evidence of measures taken by public regional universities in Illinois to mitigate the loss of state appropriations. Previous research has shown that the business model of public higher education in the United States is undergoing disruption. Changing demographics, enrollment concerns, and rising tuition were just some of these issues pressuring public institutions of higher education. The temporary loss of state appropriations exacerbated these issues and had long-lasting effects even after the Illinois budget impasse ended. In order to understand the Illinois budget impasse and its affects on regional public universities in Illinois, four administrators from two public universities in Illinois were interviewed, two from each university. In addition, archival documents including Board of Trustee meeting minutes and student publications were researched in order to supplement information shared during the interviews. The study reveals that the loss of state appropriations for public universities forced them to use reserve funds to cover costs, reduce spending, downsize personnel, and adopt cultures of austerity that continue even after state appropriations are made available again.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I would like to thank the extremely supportive and passionate faculty of the CSA program at Eastern Illinois University. Not only do they care deeply about the student affairs profession, but my own personal development and success.

I would also like to thank my family and loved ones, who without their unconditional support I would not have been able to research and explore my passions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTR ACT	i
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	ii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iii
CHAPTER 1	1
Introduction	1
Purpose of Study	4
Research Question	4
Significance of the Study	4
Limitations, Delimitations, and Assumptions	5
Definitions of Terms	6
Summary	6
CHAPTER 2	8
Review of the Literature	8
The State of Higher Education	8
Follow the Money	10
Tuition Breakdown	12
Table 1: Tuition Price Changes, 1991-92 to 2021-22	12
A Closer Look at Value	13
The Purpose of Higher Education	13
A Perfect Storm: Illinois	14
Theoretical/Conceptual Framework	15
Evolutionary Economic Theory	16
Agency Theory	18
Summary	19
CHAPTER 3	21
Methods	21
Design of the Study	21
Research Sites	22
Instrument	22
Semi-Structured Interviews	23
Archival Documents	23

Data Collection	23
Data Analysis	24
Pre-analysis preparation	24
Interview Analysis	25
Document Analysis	26
Treatment of Data	26
Summary	26
CHAPTER 4	28
Results	28
Research Question #1 How did two regional public universities in Illinois adapt to funding during the Illinois budget impasse?	
Before the Storm	28
Table 2: University A and University B Reported Total Fall Enrollment 2010-2015	31
Trouble on the Horizon	32
The Impasse: The First Three Months	34
The Impasse: One Year In	36
The End of the Impasse	40
Research Question #2 – How are these universities planning to operate with reduce appropriated funds in the current and future years?	
The New Normal	41
Research Question #3 – What future do administrators and policy makers envision f higher education business model?	
The Future of Higher Education and Appropriations	
Summary	46
CHAPTER 5	47
Political Capital	48
Alternative Revenue	49
Recommendations for Higher Education	51
Recommendations for Future Research	52
Conclusion	53
REFERENCES	54
APPENDIX A	64
Interview Questions	64
Informed Consent	65

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

The higher education business model is under significant stress, particularly those institutions of higher education that rely on state funding (Toner, 2015). The reasons for these stressors are many and varied. Universities and colleges rely on multiple revenue streams to operate, including tuition, donations, auxiliary revenue, and most importantly for public universities, state funding (AAU, 2021). In recent decades funding from state governments has declined in real dollars. Through this period, public colleges and universities endeavored to offset declining appropriations by increasing revenue through enrollment growth and tuition increases. This strategy is difficult to sustain as American universities forecast a sharp decline in the number of high-school age graduates expected in 2026 and beyond (Grawe, 2018). This demographic shift will present a new challenge that higher education institutions will have to address in order to protect these revenue streams. But cutbacks in state funding hamper the ability of universities to adequately address this challenge. This is especially significant for public universities, the focus of this study, which make up 50% of nonprofit colleges in the United States (Education Unlimited, 2015). Public universities receive anywhere from 30% to 50% of their annual operating costs from state appropriations and the loss of any state funding would cut revenue by similar proportions (Pew, 2019). The current trend of declining funding has led some to predict that state fiscal support could completely disappear by 2059 (Mortenson, 2012). Stable funding for public universities is crucial to their operations as well as their ability to address the decline in enrollment and other market disruptions (Carey, 2020).

Harvard was the first institution of higher education founded in the United States (Hudson, 1939). Over the next four centuries higher education in the U.S evolved with regard to both its role in society and the manner in which it operates. The colonial colleges of the 1700's were the first to emerge, followed by state chartered colleges during the 1800's, followed by public universities in their current iteration formed in the late-19th century and throughout the 20th century (Thelin, J. R., et al., 2022). Since the 2008 recession, however, state funding for public universities across the country has fallen sharply from previous decades (Murakami, 2020) and signals a new era in the history of public higher education. Between 2008 and 2018, state appropriations for public universities on the whole declined by \$6 billion (Mitchell et al., 2019). During the same period the Higher Education Price Index, the primary measure of inflation in the cost to deliver post-secondary education, rose by 29% (Common Fund, 2018). In addition, states are now spending less per student, resulting in reductions in a variety of student services and the elimination of key faculty positions (Mitchell et al., 2019).

These state funding issues have been offset to some degree by an increase in federal funding, however, there is a distinct difference between state and federal funding. Whereas state funding is largely appropriated for operational costs of public colleges and universities, federal funding underwrites specific research and provides financial assistance to individual students through such grants as the Pell Grant (Pew Charitable Trusts, 2015). When state funding fails to keep up with operating costs and inflation, institutions of higher education are forced to look elsewhere to make up for the lost revenue. One strategy is to raise tuition (Kerkvliet & Nowell, 2014). Growing tuition rates among public universities, having increased 13% between 2010 and 2020 (NCES,

2019) have forced some students to consider avoiding college altogether. Higher education institutions that try to discount their tuition, sometimes 50% or more, handicap their own revenue growth while failing to address the very causes for the tuition increase in the first place (Pavlov & Katsamakas, 2020).

In fiscal years 2016 and 2017, the state of Illinois experienced an unprecedented two-year budget impasse (State of Illinois Comptroller, 2021). Budget appropriations in the state of Illinois require the approval of both the General Assembly and the Governor. In 2015 a political stalemate emerged between the General Assembly and the Governor, resulting in a lack of an appropriated state budget, structural spending problems, extensive borrowing, budgetary loopholes that prevented balanced spending, and stagnant revenue (Dabrowski, 2020). Many of Illinois's institutions of higher education were negatively impacted during the impasse, particularly regional state universities. Schools such as Western Illinois University and Southern Illinois University Carbondale were on the brink of closure and continue to struggle with staying open in 2020 (Dabrowski, 2020). In addition, five state universities, Northern Illinois University, Eastern Illinois University, Southern Illinois University, Governors State University, and Northeastern State University were downgraded to a 'junk' credit rating by credit agencies, increasing the cost these institutions paid to borrow money (Dabrowski, 2017). Although the state of Illinois has consistently passed annual budgets in the years since the impasse, appropriations for public universities in Illinois are not expected to recover to preimpasse levels in the next decade. Beyond the state of Illinois, some have predicted that closures for institutes of higher education will triple over the coming years and mergers will double (Woodhouse, 2015). This is similar to Frey's prediction that half of all

colleges would close by 2030 (Frey, 2013). The state of public higher education in the United States is fast approaching a funding crisis and may in fact already be there. If this funding crisis goes unaddressed, public universities will face challenging financial pressures in the coming decades due to stagnant state funding. This is in addition to demographic pressures on enrollment (Grawe, N., 2018).

Purpose of Study

The purpose of the study is to examine how two public universities in Illinois managed the financial challenges that emerged during an unprecedented interruption of state appropriations and to discuss implications for future practices.

Research Question

This study focused on the following three research questions regarding the Illinois state budget impasse:

- 1. How did two regional public universities in Illinois adapt to reduced funding during the Illinois budget impasse?
- 2. How are these universities planning to operate with reduced appropriated funds in current and future years?
- 3. What future do administrators and policy makers envision for the higher education business model?

Significance of the Study

Regional public institutes of higher education are key drivers of access and economic development and represent one of the United States last great exports (Startz, D., 2017). Universities and colleges have still not fully recovered from the 2008 recession (Whitford, 2020), and have struggled with staying open in the face of shrinking state

appropriations and reduced enrollment (Marcus, 2019). With the collapse and closure of additional higher education institutions, systematic planning and response to fiscal pressure is needed in order to avert a future where higher education in the United States and the export service is represents is compromised. This study aims to identify how administrators and leaders within the field respond to significant financial crisis, and how to ensure that higher education not only survives but preserves the ability to addresses other financial challenges in the industry.

Some have predicted a consolidation of universities and colleges into a number of exclusive institutions and university systems (Horn, 2018). However, a diverse and competitive higher education market will offer students a variety of choices in regard to their post-secondary education and ensure greater accessibility. Administrators can take note of what leaders at public universities in Illinois, a state beset by budget woes, have been doing to offset the cuts in revenue that they have experienced (PBS, 2017) and avoid mass consolidation into wealthier university systems.

Limitations, Delimitations, and Assumptions

Several potential limitations for this study have been identified. First, as an intrinsic case study, some of the data will be drawn from semi-structured interviews with individuals who served as administrative employees at regional public universities in Illinois. The data from these interviews is by definition subjective. Accuracy of data from the interviews and its analysis required a level of transparency and accountability on the part of the research participants, of which the discussion of finances may obstruct. The interview was supplemented by primary and secondary source for financial data, but the richness of the subjective interview data added depth to the understanding of these cases.

In the case of the qualitative interviews, the researcher is a graduate student which may have affected the study. Rather than approaching administrators in a consulting or certified researcher capacity, the researcher approached them as a student. As a result, there may have been hesitancy from the participants to be fully candid in their responses. However, thanks to faculty advisors and the relationship state schools have with each other, it is hoped that peer collegiality will have overcome this difference. Some of the data that will be collected is publicly available through various sources.

In regard to delimitations, this study excluded regional public universities outside of Illinois in order to focus on regional public universities that had already faced a period of reduced state funding in the recent past. Regional state universities were chosen because they are particularly dependent on state appropriations with limited cash reserves. Although there are more institutions in Illinois than the two selected, the two regional public universities featured in this case study have relatively similar enrollments and budget sizes.

Definitions of Terms

Below are a series of terms with definitions as they are used in the study.

Illinois budget impasse- A roughly two-year period in which public universities in Illinois received little or no appropriated funding from the state due to legislative deadlock.

Public university- A four-year higher education institution that receives the majority of its funding from state government or is partially owned by state governments. **Summary**

In fiscal year 2015 and 2016, Illinois institutions of higher education experienced an unprecedented interruption in state appropriations. This was concurrent with a downward trend in enrollment and other disruptive factors. The researcher aimed to investigate the two-year period of the budget impasse and described their responses by two regional universities in Illinois. This chapter provided the purpose and significance of the study as well as the research questions that will guide the research.

CHAPTER 2

Review of the Literature

Public universities' state subsidies are dependent on the financial health of the state they operate in, and any funding cuts prevent public higher education institutions from adequately addressing declining enrollment and any other market disruptors such as fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic (Butrymowicz et al., 2020). This literature review aims to analyze the current fiscal state of colleges and universities, and the causes of their decline in revenue, as well as explore possible solutions for long-term operation and growth. To this end, several studies and articles have been gathered below to analyze data and opinions on the past, present, and future of the higher education business model.

The State of Higher Education

The traditional business model of public higher education relies on several sources of revenue, including state and federal appropriations, tuition, and alumni donations (Kronk, 2018). As they are public universities, they are required by law to use revenue to reinvest into their educational mission, rather than pay off shareholders or executive management as they might if they were for a for-profit college. (TBS, 2019). In the last thirty years however, state approprioations, which constitutes the largest funding by a government entity, has fallen sharply (Berman, 2017). Many institutions of higher education have offset this lost revenue by raising tuition and pushing the cost onto the students, thereby making higher education less accessible for those students who can least afford the increases (Dickler, 2016).

But high tuition is not the only factor putting pressure on enrollment.

Demographic changes and declining birthrates can also play a role (Grawe, 2018). The

year 2009 represented the largest high school graduation numbers in U.S history, with 89% of 18-24-year-olds holding a high school diploma or equivalent (Chapman et al., 2011). Demographics and birthrates, in combination with high school graduation rates, have continued to fuel rising enrollment in higher education, although this trend is predicted to peak around 2025 and then decline (Seltzer, 2020). Furthermore, enrollment for traditional students is decreasing throughout American universities, while non-traditional student enrollment has increased (Pavlov & Katsamakas, 2020). Although there is some debate as to whether the two groups offset each other, there can be no doubt that universities can no longer rely on high school graduates to fill their ranks (Grawe, 2018). This in turn forces universities and colleges to rethink their marketing and recruitment strategies. In some worst-case scenarios, student enrollment may fall to such a level that neither raising tuition nor large-scale investment in courses and facilities will make up the deficit (Pavlov & Katsamakas, 2020).

Special note must also be made of the impact of COVID-19 on universities and colleges. College enrollment fell by 25% during the pandemic, a devastating number for both higher education institutions and students who might not get the opportunity to go back (Dickler, 2021). Community colleges bore the brunt of the decline, though public universities weren't immune (Dickler, 2021). There is also the worry that these numbers will not recover after the effects of the pandemic have waned. In Texas in 2020, the number of FAFSA applications from high school seniors declined, and school counselors were unable to connect with students virtually in the same way they were able to with inperson meetings before COVID (McGee, 2020). Furthermore, administrators in Texas worry that the student population most affected by pandemic disruptions are

underrepresented students, such as Black, Hispanic, and low-income students (McGee 2020). If these trends hold both within Texas and beyond, enrollment numbers could continue to decline not only because of birthrate decline, but also due to the continued fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic.

Additionally, colleges and universities are struggling to keep up with technological advances that higher education is expected to incorporate into their curriculum going forward. According to Bezuidenhout (2015), rapidly expanding distance learning courses will place additional strains on students, faculty, and staff. This is compounded by the effects of COVID-19 on higher education and the transition to remote instruction (Lassoued et al., 2020). Weissman (2020) suggests the shift towards online courses at larger schools could contribute to or accelerate the closing of smaller campuses. There is also the stress and workload placed on faculty and staff to be sufficiently trained in emerging technology (Bezuidenhout, 2015).

Rising tuition rates and operational costs combined with declining government funding and declining enrollment are forcing many higher education institutions to change how they function (Toner, 2015). For these reasons and more, some have predicted that over 50% of colleges and universities are predicted to close by 2030 (Frey, 2013).

Follow the Money

When looking critically at rising tuition and falling funding, underlying questions must be addressed. Why are state governments reducing their support from higher education? How can institutions justify the cost of a degree? Which programs are viable

for expansion, and which are no longer relevant? These questions point to a larger question of what a society values and why.

Dougherty et al., (2013) stated that reductions in funding for institutions of higher education on the state level can partially be attributed to politics. Austerity measures, concerns about taxation levels, and a backlash against the perceived liberalism of higher education had motivated some conservative lawmakers to challenge expenditures for public universities. And if this withdrawal of support continues into a trend of state governments valuing cost-cutting measures over investment in institutions of higher education, then it follows that higher education will continue to suffer. The answer to this trend is to identify common ground between both sides of the political spectrum and redefine why universities and colleges exist (Dougherty et al., 2013). By moving toward common ground, higher education will be able to survive and thrive regardless of who holds office, as both parties will find value in the institutions. However, by building university budgets to withstand periods of limited state funding, administrators can better navigate a future in which traditional revenue streams are less reliable.

In regard to the cost of a degree, the price tag is justified by operational costs which include payroll, facilities, and the academic programs themselves (Pavlov & Katsamakas, 2020). This is in addition to the rising demand for degrees in the market (Morgan, 2021). Although the temptation to cut costs in those operational areas may be present, studies have shown that dramatic cuts are short-term solutions that hamper long-term growth and sustainability (Pavlov & Katsamakas, 2020). Therefore, if state funding is in decline and unreliable, and cutting costs handicaps growth, new avenues of revenue must be developed. It should be noted that simply relying on the student loan market is

dangerous, as not only is there a rising consumer backlash, but defaults and high debt are destabilizing other industries due to the lack of consumer purchasing power (Orsolini, 2020).

Tuition Breakdown

Although there is little surprise that rising tuition can suppress enrollment, a closer examination needs to be taken in order to fully understand the cost students are shouldering, and therefore why some are avoiding college altogether (Hemelt et al., 2011). Although public universities only increased their average tuition by 1% between 2019 and 2020 (College Board, 2020), likely in response to the global pandemic, over the last three decades the growth in public university average tuition price has outstripped inflation and even tuition increases at private universities (see Table 1) (College Board, 2021).

Table 1: Tuition Price Changes, 1991-92 to 2021-22

	Avg Tuition	Avg Tuition	30 Year
Institution Type	1991-92 AY	2021-22 AY	Change
4-Year Public University	\$4,160	\$10,740	158%
Private University	\$19,360	\$38,070	97%
Consumer Price Index (CPI)	AUG 1991	AUG 2021	99%
	136.600	273.092	

Interestingly enough, tuition levels are not just affecting perspective students, but graduates as well, with the high cost of attending college having an adverse effect on alumni donations (Ulbrich et al., 2017). 40% of college graduates are paying off student loans, and therefore do not have the financial resources to give back to their institution

nor spend money on other discretionary items (Ulbrich et al., 2017). In this way we see that rising tuition costs can have a tangible adverse effect on the long-term sustainability and growth of higher education institutions.

A Closer Look at Value

An important aspect of operating higher education institutions is the interconnectivity of revenue streams to each other. Adjusting one affects the other, and predictive models indicate that raising tuition can lower enrollment, which in turns decreases net revenue and adds to a vicious feedback loop where incoming students cannot afford to attend (Pavlov et al., 2020). Furthermore, there is the concept of price to value that some regional state universities rely on to attract students. Though enrollment among traditional students is down, and non-traditional enrollment is up (Frey, 2013), many prospective students are now balking at public higher education's rising price-tag and gravitating towards elite universities over smaller institutions (Lederman, 2017). If this is the case, then administrators at less prestigious universities who rely on low tuition to attract students are pinched between the need to maintain relatively lower and attractive tuition prices and the desire to increase a revenue stream they can control.

The Purpose of Higher Education

Perhaps one of the biggest questions in regard to the long-term viability of higher education is the purpose that colleges and universities serve in society at-large in the United States. Some scholars frame higher education as a physical representation of the rights granted by the first amendment (Inazu, 2018). This of course reintroduces the problem of political and cultural backlash to universities and colleges, and positioning campuses as a bastion of free speech raises questions of how to define free speech and

who it benefits (Dougherty et al., 2013). If such a definition puts higher education at the mercy of election cycles, better to predict and prepare for such volatility rather than react to it after the fact.

Is the point of higher education then to prepare students for the labor market? Employers would certainly like it to be so, and in fact have identified the skills that they wish to see universities and colleges bestow. This includes critical thinking, problem solving, and listening, among others (Baird & Parayitam, 2019). In this frame, higher education positions itself as a pipeline to employment, generating enrollment by demonstrating its utility in partnership with employers. But this model ignores the broadest outcomes of post-secondary education in the areas of student development. Will students be able to explore their interests if higher education becomes a glorified employee training program? Can they become self-actualized in such an environment? In a society such as ours that values profit and growth, do such questions even matter when compared to long-term survivability?

This brings us back to what our society values and what will benefit the student. This review does not investigate what is or is not beneficial for the student per se, but to highlight. Student benefits are inconsequential to the larger problem of how to ensure there are places for them to be students at in the first place. Or, in other words, enriching the lives of students is secondary to keeping the lights on.

A Perfect Storm: Illinois

One of the more interesting considerations when discussing eroding state appropriations is that administrators already have real-life examples of what would happen in the absence of appropriated state funding. In 2015 the state of Illinois was

unable to pass a budget for the fiscal year 2016, leaving many public universities without much-needed revenue (Brown, S. 2017). Over the two-year period that the deadlock continued, public university officials in the state had to make difficult choices between cutting jobs, downsizing, and expending cash reserves to survive. Spending by the state for public universities was reduced by over 50%, and over 100,000 low-income students had their tuition assistance cut (Kramer, D. 2017). Major credit rating agencies downgraded the debt of several public universities, some to the point of endangering their accreditation status (State of Illinois Comptroller 2021). In addition to stagnant state appropriations, during the two-year impasse higher education enrollment declined statewide by 70,000 students, 7,500 positions at colleges and universities were cut, and the Illinois economy lost an estimated \$1 billion per year due to higher education emergency austerity measures (The Illinois Update, 2021).

These problems were compounded by the phenomena of high school graduates pursing higher education degrees outside of Illinois. In 2017 nearly 50% of degree-pursing high school graduates from Illinois high schools attended universities and colleges in other states (Rhodes, 2019). Partly influenced by the damage done by the Illinois budget impasse, institutes of higher education in other states took notice and began enrolling these students. The poaching of students from Illinois is not just a strategy from neighboring states, but ones as far away as Alabama (Rhodes, 2019). Suffice to say, there are grave repercussions when a major revenue source is denied to higher education, and Illinois presents a unique case study on what happens when public universities lose one of their largest sources of revenue, state appropriations.

Theoretical/Conceptual Framework

Higher education is changing. More specifically, the business model and the societal role of higher education is changing. In order to fully examine these two areas, two theoretical frameworks are helpful in describing university operations from the perspective of administrators and students. Although the importance of operation before service was stressed earlier, on a practical level, a public university cannot function without students. And when given a choice between an established public university and a for-profit college, students pick the former (Albright, 2019). This is because on some level students would prefer to get a degree at an institution that offers more than just the degree. Prestige, accreditation, and the student life experience are important when drawing in new students in a shrinking market (TBS, 2019). The dual theoretical frameworks for this study addresses the economics of operations and relationship between client and customers.

Evolutionary Economic Theory

Evolutionary economic theory is a theoretical perspective well-suited for this project (Nelson & Winter, 2002). Because higher education must attempt to adapt and evolve to survive, it makes sense to view that struggle through a framework that emphasizes adaptation and evolution. In this regard evolutionary economic theory aligns closely with a desire to study universities though the lens of financial analysis.

Evolutionary economic theory emerged in the 19th century, but it wasn't until Richard R. Nelson and Sidney G. Winter clarified and published their analysis of it after 1980 that it entered the wider arena of public policy and discourse (Downie, 1997). The theory is similar to Charles Darwin's evolutionary theory in that it describes a population with variations of set characteristics within that population, of which some of these

characteristics are retained, others are not. The theory also includes the consideration of environmental factors that influence the retention of certain characteristics (Nelson et al., 2002). Nelson and Winter applied Darwin's theory directly to economic systems, specifying that the population is made up of firms or organizations, the characteristics are business practices, and the environmental factors are sales (Barney, 1987). When taken a step further and applied to higher education, the model changes so that the population is public and private universities, the characteristics are programs, and retention of those characteristics is driven by market forces, or the environment (Nelson et al., 2002). Characteristics could also be categorized by revenue streams as opposed to programs, which in terms of higher education represents endowments, tuition, donations, and any other process that earns money for the university. Characteristics could also be combined into revenue streams *and* programs, or programs could be used as a subset of revenue (Nelson et al., 2002).

Because higher education institutions could be viewed as endangered, their ability to adapt and retain profitable characteristics will determine their long-term viability (Pavlov et al., 2020). More importantly, the lens that evolutionary economic theory provides for predictive models uses non-fixed and ever-changing variables, while also focusing on foundational change that happens within organizations (Dopfer, 2005). Using changing variables is necessary when trying to account for the multitude of problems facing the continued operation of higher education institutions. When searching for the underlying mechanism that drives retention and change, evolutionary economics also provides a process for connecting the web of mechanisms that is usually involved. By

treating the various factors as an interdependent phenomenon, additional agents of change can be identified and acted upon (Dopfer, 2005).

Agency Theory

On a more specific level, the larger issues looming for higher education are the duel phenomenon of declines in state funding over the years and enrollment (Toner, M. 2015). Although the former has not factored into the significant number of private college closings, both issues force public and private institutions of higher education to rely on tuition and alternative revenue sources to balance the budget. Predictive models have found that long-term effects of funding cuts all bode poorly for the institutions in question (Kerkvliet, & Nowell, 2014). If tuition is raised in response to declining enrollment or funding, then enrollment may continue to suffer. This leads to a vicious cycle of raising tuition to make up for lost revenue, which dissuades prospective students and exacerbates the problem (Kerkvliet, & Nowell, 2014). Suffice to say that the continued relationship between government and higher education is vitally important, even if it cannot be relied upon, but so is the relationship between institutions and their students. The agency theoretical framework treats government and higher education much the same way as it would investors and management, or a principal and agent (Kivistö, 2008). Proposed by Stephen Ross and Barry Mitnick (Mitnick, 2013) the same framework of principal and agent can be easily applied between educators and students. By adopting a more corporate lens with which to view higher education's woes, not only will the agency framework allow for pragmatism, but it will acknowledge the underlying truth of IHE's existence as organizations subject to the basic principles of business. When approached from a relational mindset, a realistic prediction concerning higher education's

viability can be made. The agency framework does not take into account the human component beyond the principal and agent, but at least in regard to a two-party relationship, it narrows down the focus and solely concentrates on one relationship. In this regard and other it vastly differs from evolutionary economics, but together both frameworks can form a macro and micro lens with which to view and address the problem. Both perspectives are important when addressing such a complex system as higher education.

Summary

The literature illustrates numerous examples of how higher education is endangered financially, the challenges facing students, and the changing demographics of the consumer base. Issues concerning enrollment trends, evolving technology, operational costs, tuition, COVID, and changes in funding have all called into question the future of higher education, and sources and data are readily provided to support these claims. Cases where public universities manage decreased and disrupted state funding are instructive. This is due to the politicization of state appropriations, or the finances of the states themselves, as seen in Illinois. In addition, the consumer base is shifting, whereby raising tuition may not be a viable fix. And cutting costs is counterproductive. Traditional enrollment is in decline, under the pressure of rising tuition prices, falling wages, and shrinking middle class. Rapidly changing technology, although secondary in this review to consumers and revenues, will also need to be addressed. And of course, redefining of the role of higher education is necessary for its continued survival. Add to this the interconnectivity of revenue streams within higher education, and the volatility of market forces, and college and universities begin to resemble a house of cards. But so far, the

problems and solutions listed are reactionary measures against unnamed forces, instead of proactive steps taken to combat recognizable trends. The current higher education business model is under extreme stress.

CHAPTER 3

Methods

Public Universities need to identify strategies to sustain financial operations in this period of financial uncertainty. This qualitative study describes the short-term response of two regional public universities to reduced state appropriations. This includes individual interviews and data analysis to answer the question of how public universities in Illinois are navigating a funding crisis and preparing for a post-funding future.

Design of the Study

This intrinsic case study was conducted through in-person paired interviews with two administrators from two separate regional, four-year, public universities in Illinois. An intrinsic case study was chosen because it allows for a case or situation to be studied within a system, and allows for multiple points of view when examining the issue (Creswell, 2007). Specifically, intrinsic case studies allow for the examination of a case itself. This is in contrast to the instrumental and collective case studies, which have different areas of concentration in regards to what is being studied (Creswell, 2007). An intrinsic case study lends itself well to the exploration of higher education finances in the state of Illinois and includes the ability to use multiple sources to examine a singular case. This took the form of interviews with administrators and soliciting their thoughts on their institutions' responses to the Illinois budget impasse, the current state of funding in higher education, their predictions for the future, their strategies for maintaining revenue, and other questions concerning the continued operation of their university in light of funding challenges. This study also reviewed financial documents, contemporary news accounts, and publicly available budget documents. These multiple sources align with the elements of an intrinsic case study and gives the researcher multiple perspectives on a complex issue (Creswell, 2007).

Research Sites

This case study analyzed two regional public universities, located in the Midwest in the state of Illinois, henceforth referred to as University A and University B. Both institutions are classified as regional public universities and receive significant state appropriations. They also have a similar number of colleges, departments, and administrators. For each institution, individuals in administrative roles associated with financial management were recruited to be interview subjects. These universities were selected because they were affected by the state of Illinois' financial upheaval over the course of two years between 2015 and 2017, resulting in one ten-month period of zero financial support from the state (Brown, 2017).

University A was among those institutions in the state rumored to be shutting down, and lost hundreds of faculty and staff, and University B had to make similar cuts in order to continue operations. In the last three years, both universities have seen recovering enrollment trends, with University B seeing one of its highest enrollments in five years (University B, 2020). The 2015-2017 financial crisis is analogous to scenarios anticipating a future with no state funding, and therefore relevant to this study.

University A is a midsized institution with a reported Fall 2021 enrollment of approximately 8,608 students. University B is a similarly sized institution with a reported enrollment of 7,455 students in Fall 2021.

Instrument

The primary instrument for this study was two semi-structured interviews with a pair of administrators from each institution. The interviews were composed of 12 questions each, four questions discussing the past, four questions detailing the present financial climates, and four related to the future of higher education. The interview questions are included in Appendix A.

The questions elicited lengthy, detailed answers. The semi-structured format allowed for additional clarifying questions.

Semi-Structured Interviews

In all, four subjects were interviewed, two from University A and two from University B. All four were either senior auxiliary administrators, or senior business officers. The interviews were conducted in pairs. University A's senior business officer is referred to as Administrator 1, and their senior auxiliary administrator is referred to as Administrator 2. University B's senior business officer is Administrator 3, and their senior auxiliary administrator is Administrator 4.

Archival Documents

In addition to interviews, financial documents and budgetary reports related to the years 2015-2020 were reviewed. This range encompasses the beginning of the budgetary crisis in Illinois (2015) and goes up to the latest available documents at the time of this study (2020). Additionally, contemporary news articles relating to University A and University B's online archives were identified and included in this study. These press accounts covered the Illinois financial crisis as well as any faculty cuts, department closures, and new initiatives undertaken to remain solvent.

Data Collection

The administrative officials from the two institutions were contacted early spring 2022, via direct email for informed consent to record interviews. The interviews were conducted two weeks after that via Zoom.

In addition to recorded interviews, archival sites for both University A and University B was accessed in the weeks prior to the interviews. These archives were available to the public, with the ability to download content to PDF format for external storage. The goal was to obtain news articles each from University A and University B concerning the 2015-2017 budget crisis. The articles were supplemented by documents from each of the universities' Board of Trustees minutes in the years 2015-2017.

Data Analysis

There is a five-step process to create a framework for analysis of qualitative data that involves five steps (Yin, 2011). These include compiling data, disassembling data, reassembling and arraying, interpreting, and concluding (Yin, 2011). This process is especially effective for intrinsic case studies, in which multiple sources are being analyzed for a singular case.

Pre-analysis preparation

The first step of Yin's data analysis model, *compilation*, involves the sorting of field notes into usable categories (Yin, 2011). In this vein, all data obtained was separated between the two institutions, University A and University B. After data collection, interviews were transcribed and imported into an electronic spreadsheet where they were categorized and separated by question into the three separate time periods of: 1) the 2015 budget impasse; 2) the current state of higher education; and 3) future predictions. In

addition to the interviews, the collected archival documents were separated into news articles and the Board of Trustee's minutes for further textual reading.

The second step of Yin's five step process, *disassembling*, involved breaking down each of the interviews and textual documents further to seek out common themes or stark differences.

As far as reassembling goes, and in terms of the interviews, answers were separated between University A and University B, as well as divided between past, present, and future. Reassembling allowed allows for graphic depictions and graphs, though none of them were incorporated as textual explanations worked just as well as visual representation (Yin, 2011).

This pattern was applied for the archival documents as well, which were divided between institutions and time periods. However, the reassembling process differed from the way it was used for the interviews, as the range of subjects identified through archival documentation is wider than the range of subjects covered during the interviews.

Interview Analysis

The next step requires creating a new narrative from the reassembled data, also referred to as *interpretation* (Yin, 2011). Interpretations will vary from researcher to researcher, however in this instance the researcher looked for a narrative that paints a full picture of the effects of reduced funding, the ways in which administrators navigated such a situation, and the future of higher education in a system where a significant revenue stream is compromised. In practical terms, this means that from the categories created in the transcript, and further organized through dissembling and resembling, discrete categories were identified in order to document key words and phrases pertaining

to financial strategies and terms. Using these key words, assessments, strategies, and predictions were identified in order to incorporate them into a broader narrative of higher education's past and future in the state of Illinois.

Document Analysis

As with the interviews, the data was interpreted using the best combinations, coding, and organization for the case study (Yin, 2011). For the news articles about University A and University B, information was sought pertaining to furloughs, firings, department closures and consolidations, as well as other strategies employed by the universities to navigate the budget impasse. None of the contemporary sources included content that predicted the future of higher education. The Board of Trustees minutes received similar attention.

Treatment of Data

The in-depth interviews were collected and stored in a secure Google Drive folder until they were coded and analyzed through the discrete categories of past, present and future from the interviews. Questions pertaining to the current state of finances and future austerity strategies was also separated into two separate categories in an electronic spreadsheet. All identifying features related to the interview subjects were coded, with the answer keys kept on a separate, secure, Google Drive folder. Consent forms and data were also stored in the secured Google drive folder, and will be kept for three years, then erased in accordance with IRB protocols.

Summary

The design of the study is an intrinsic case study with four participants from two regional, public universities. Data included semi-structured interviews and archival research, which was analyzed, coded, and secured for later deletion.

CHAPTER 4

Results

Upon completion of the document analysis, archival research, and interviews, a story began to emerge of how two public regional universities navigated the 2015-2017 budget impasse and the reduced state appropriations that came with it. Although there were some key differences between University A and University B, their relationship to appropriations and the measures they enacted to mitigate their loss shared some common themes. These common themes included reducing costs, implementing hiring freezes, downsizing personnel, and spending reserves to cover necessary expenses. These two institutions had different experiences in the manner in which appropriations were paid to the institutions by the state, the timing and extent of the downsizing measures deployed during the two-year impasse, and the degree to which each institution utilized their cash reserves. Additionally, the challenges produced by the budget impasse and the measures taken to mitigate them were compounded by a concurrent phenomenon of declining enrollment.

Research Question #1 -- How did two regional public universities in Illinois adapt to reduced funding during the Illinois budget impasse?

Before the Storm

Before describing measures taken during the impasse itself, it is important to describe the conditions related to state appropriations leading up to impasse.

Administrator 2 from University A noted that payments from the state had slowed long before the budget impasse.

In years before, you could pretty much count on when it was coming, but the state was having pretty difficult cash flow situations and it was a little bit difficult to predict exactly what schedule they are going to be paying their amounts on.

Administrator 1 from University A further detailed the process of incurring costs and waiting to be reimbursed:

We would get everything paid on arrears with the state of Illinois. So we have to incur the expense before we are reimbursed from the appropriation. So we pay payroll, we submit it to the state of Illinois, and in theory they're supposed to send us money. It used to be that way before the budget impasse, that all we had to do was submit it [a request], and the money would probably come in. It was in 2012, or somewhere around there, that it started slowing down.

University A would incur expenses and rely on the state reimbursing it through promised appropriations, however the state of Illinois was sporadic and unpredictable regarding when it would actually deliver these funds to University A. This inconsistent disbursement in appropriations is in part the reason University A had built up a cash reserve, and this reserve would be pivotal to University A managing the budget impasse. Administrator 1 recalled:

When the budget originally worked, we were spending somewhere to the tune of \$8 to \$9 million per month from appropriated funds. A \$30 million reserve was enough to cover roughly 3 months' worth of expenditures. So when the state stopped funding things in '16, at first it really didn't matter.

This inconsistent pattern of disbursement created conditions whereby administrators and University A were unable to gauge exactly how bad things were about to get. Administrator 2 noted:

So in some ways. I'd say they [the state] conditioned us to not be expecting the payment on time over a number of years where they were late, but we had enough money to float it because we had enough money in reserves that it worked out. So when they didn't pay for longer and longer times initially, it was like it's been for the past several years.

In fact, before the budget impasse even occurred, the state of Illinois was past due on \$20 million in appropriations to University A for the previous fiscal year, and University A was already taking measures to make up for the slow payment of appropriated funds as a result.

Conversely, University B received its appropriations in a timely manner and was not owed anything by the state of Illinois, but the size of the state appropriation was slowly declining. As Administrator 4 stated:

We were receiving those payments on time or in a timely fashion. But you can see, from FY 02 until the time of the budget impasse, there was no increase in state appropriations, or if there was, it was very slow. So, although yes, we were receiving it in a timely manner, it was going down.

Despite the timely manner of appropriation payments, University B had built up a cash reserve that it was able to rely on during the budget impasse as well.

The inconsistency in payment of state appropriations and the decline in the size of appropriations was only one problem, however. There was a far larger issue that public,

regional state universities in Illinois were facing leading up to the impasse: steady declines in enrollment [see Table 2]. For both University A and University B, enrollment peaked around fiscal year 2011. For University B, enrollment began to decline in FY '11. For University A, it was not an enrollment decline that hit first, but rather an intentional downsizing of enrollment due to capacity concerns. As Administrator 2 at University A put it:

In 2011 our enrollment was 11,178, so over 11,000 and about three or four years before that we are over 12 thousand and we just said 'that was too big, we can't handle that size of a population with all our resources,' so we did commit to an intentional downsizing, we needed to get a little bit smaller so we get to the right rhythm.

University A's enrollment in years prior had grown beyond the university's capacity to handle, so in 2011 they began making changes to downsize. This was immediately followed by a reverse trend in enrollment just like University B.

Administrator 1 at University A laid out just how important enrollment is, "100 students gives [auxiliary] about \$1,000,000. The same is pretty well true on the academic side, another hundred students gives us roughly another \$1,000,000." One hundred students living on-campus translate to \$1 million in tuition and fees, and \$1 million auxiliary revenue. And if enrollment declines, the overall budget of a university shrinks as well due to the loss of tuition, room and board, and fees. During periods when the delivery of state appropriations is sporadic at best, the administrators interviewed indicated that tuition and fees from enrollment are critical sources of revenue.

Table 2: University A and University B Reported Total Fall Enrollment 2010-2015

	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015
University A	11,600	11,170	10,410	9,770	8,910	8,520
University B	12,580	12,550	12,200	11,700	11,450	11,090

Trouble on the Horizon

In the months preceding the budget impasse, both University A and University B were in similar positions. Morale was low due to declining enrollment, and there were signs from Springfield that the governor and the legislature were coming to an impasse over the budget. Archival documents suggest the primary concern at the time for both University A and University B was declining enrollment rather than Springfield's ongoing political infighting. For University B, Trustee members visited an Association of Governing Boards Conference where Illinois's budget problems were acknowledged, but the main topic of focus was the nationwide trend of declining university enrollment and high school graduation rates (University B, 2015). University B's Trustees were especially interested in nationwide retention strategies, although many of them were already in place at the institution (University B, 2015). As for University A's concerns, legislators in Springfield assured the university that the budget would be passed. As Administrator 1 explained:

We kept hearing from Springfield 'Don't worry, it'll be taken care of,' then 'Well we didn't make it by May but we'll be taken care of in June.' Then it was 'Well, we have to wait until the legislators come back, it'll probably be September.' And so they kept kicking the can down the road over when our next payment would come.

University A was already acclimated to the unreliability of the state's delivery of appropriations and many administrators assumed the appropriation would eventually materialize, simply delayed as had happened in the past. This is further supported by the June 26th meeting minutes of University A's Board of Trustees, during which a budget for fiscal year 2017 was approved under the assumption of a mere 5% decrease in general revenue funds (University A, 2015). On June 26th, the Board of Trustees for University A were further assured by a senator that veto sessions will force activity (University A, 2015).

University B was also unaware of the fact that a lengthy impasse was coming. Interviews with administrators at University B indicated that no one at the institution believed it could get as bad as it eventually became, and there was some initial confusion at the beginning of the impasse, with faculty and staff needing to be educated on what exactly was about to happen with cashflow at their university. Administrator 4 described the reaction of colleagues at University B:

I think there was a lot of education that had to happen in the months leading up to the impasse, because we started to get red flags that this might be coming down the pipeline and we were trying to put some preventative measures into place. But I think people were confused. 'What do you mean we may not be able to make payroll? What do you mean we'll have a cash flow problem?' If I remember correctly, we had several informational sessions with our leadership team where students, but mainly faculty members and staff members, came and asked those types of questions.

This is supported by archival research in which University B's board of trustees convened a July retreat for a question-and-answer session to discuss the implications of an interruption in state appropriations and what actions would be taken moving forward. Among these were a projected 6% cut in the university budget and reinvestments. Questions were asked about the "number of reserves" the university was allowed to keep, with the answer being ideally 6 months' worth. There were also discussions on the delay in MAP funding and questions on how funding worked when University B used to get "all of our money up front" (University B, 2015).

The Impasse: The First Three Months

By June of 2015 it was apparent that a state budget for fiscal year 2016 was not going to pass with a signature from the governor of Illinois (BGA, 2017). The budget impasse had officially begun. At the onset of the budget impasse University A froze travel, halted equipment purchases, and ceased construction projects. Any outflow of cash had to have the approval of the president; the president having just taken office as the impasse began. Administrator 2 at University A explained:

There was a travel freeze. I mean basically all that stuff had to stop and had to get presidential signature for it to happen, which wasn't happening. There were equipment purchases or projects that we had planned to do, anything we could stop we stopped. So any outflow of cash we did our best to hold onto.

Independent of the emergence of the impasse, initial layoffs of personnel at University A were already underway, not because of the loss of appropriations, but rather declining enrollment. Administrator 1 elaborated:

That was by far the biggest thing that we did, and it was not done because of the budget impasse. I mean, looking back, you can say that benefited us for the impasse, but it was done solely because our enrollment kept dropping and we had not made adjustments for it.

University B's response at the beginning of the impasse was similar.

Administrator 4 recounted:

There was absolutely a hiring freeze, so no filling any non-essential, and I use that in bolded terms, positions at that time. Anything we could do to reserve our cash we were doing, in the same way as personnel, we were doing with common expenditures. We also reached out to all vendors because we had many millions of dollars that were paying to external contracts, and we enacted our ability to act on the Prompt Payment Act, which allowed us 90 days to pay a vendor past a due date. So we were delaying payment to them and again, had that right to do so.

University B also prohibited any hiring of new faculty and staff, and put off paying vendors by utilizing the Prompt Payment Act. Administrator 4 noted the particular importance of relationships with external vendors:

We had some special agreements in some of our larger contracts at that time. One is our food service contract which we're paying easily, \$1,000,000 to them per month for food and the labor of our food service staff. So we had a memorandum of agreement with them to delay payment even further, until we could get through the budget impasse. Again, the private sector was not in the same situation that we were, and they were very understanding and for the most part we had good luck with our vendors and established relationships. So there was an agreement there.

One important note that was uncovered while interviewing administrators for both University A and University B was that around 80% of state appropriations went to payroll. With University A already reducing payroll three months into the impasse and University B prohibiting payroll expenses from increasing with hiring freezes, two different approaches to navigating the impasse were developing.

The Impasse: One Year In

What had previously been assured as impossible by legislators in Springfield was now fully apparent to everyone in the state: there was a budget impasse, and the usual and expected appropriations from the state were not going to materialize. As mentioned previously, both University A and University B were caught unaware by the impasse in different ways. University A had spent years dealing with an inconsistent pattern of state appropriations and had taken measures to mitigate its affects, but the institution never predicted that appropriations would stop for as long as they eventually did. University B was also blindsided, with Administrator 4 remembering that it wasn't until August, months after a budget should have been passed, that the reality of what was happening was made apparent. "Nobody realized what was about to happen. I think by the time we got to August or September, that's when it all started to sink in." An article from a student publication at University A revealed that despite an intentional reduction in spending, university administrators were still hopeful a budget might be passed in January of 2016 (Buchman, 2015). But after the initial first three months of reactionary measures were taken, the impasse stretched to six months, then a year.

A year into the impasse, University A continued to be very disciplined in its expenditures of cash. Everything from travel expenditures to equipment purchases still

required presidential approval, but by March of 2016 a second round of layoffs had been initiated, bringing the total pool of downsized personnel to 400 people, or an estimated 20% of the university's workforce. Administrator 2 described the timing of the layoffs at University A:

We did the first layoff in September of '15 and then we did another layoff in March of '16. So the combination of those two ended up being about 400 or so individuals somewhere, roughly 20% of our staffing. So imagine people who'd worked in an office for a number of years and there is a rhythm within this office, and either someone got directly laid off or someone got bumped out of that office. So even after the first round there was obviously the sadness over the people we lost, but also we lost a lot of departmental history and operational history.

This effect on morale is further supported by faculty senate minutes from Spring 2016, in which the faculty senate sends a letter to their state senator drawing attention to the cessation of contractual salary increases and introduction of furloughs, and the impact it has on University A's educational mission (University A, 2016).

In addition to personnel measures, restricted reserves, such as those belonging to auxiliary units, were being prepared to be made available should University A's appropriated funds run dry. This was authorized during a Board of Trustees meeting and was significant because under normal circumstances auxiliary restricted reserves could not be legally accessed (University A, 2016). In the words of Administrator 2:

We were very close to taking the steps to say we could use it [the restricted reserves] if we had to use it because that's how close it came to having to tap into it. You could only do it in critical emergencies, and the board [of Trustees at

University A] has to take action to approve it and they did that, but we never had to actually go there because they [the state of Illinois] gave us a small portion of the appropriation toward the end.

Administrator 2 at University A made note of the fact that the institution was already working under lean conditions before the impasse and had developed a system of efficiency:

We have a long tradition with higher ed and with Springfield through the various committees about the efficiency of the university that, like our per pupil cost for delivering our education is less than I think anybody else in the state of the residential universities. So when they then don't give us money, it's not like we've got places we can just go to and whack out and be like, 'Oh, we won't feel that.' Because we already ran on sort of a lean, mean, get-it-covered kind of thing. So, I would say that the budget cut really made us almost arrhythmic, you know, because we didn't have any place to go.

Having to grow even more lean and efficient under the effects of the impasse put great strain on faculty and staff at University A who were already suffering from morale problems due to declining enrollment. And with the downsizing adding to their workload, faculty and staff were both already overburdened.

University B was in a slightly different position a year into the impasse.

Administrator 4 remembered:

We [University B] had two larger sets of layoffs, one in 2016 and one again in 2019. So, the 2016 ones were obviously specifically for [sic] because of the budget impasse. If I remember correctly, we looked at the entire institution and

kind of did a flat percentage in each division, 'this needs to be reduced,' and so that's how layoffs occurred at that time. So some of them were absolutely faculty, some of them were staff, others administrators at the time, so that definitely occurred in 2016. The problem with some of those was that we had to give them a year's notice or they had to teach out their contract.

University B was forced to reduce personnel as well, imposing a flat percentage of layoffs across departments and divisions. Collective bargaining delayed some of those layoffs until the end of annual contracts. This is further supported from a 2015 student publication's article from University A that addressed problems at University B. In this article, collective bargaining representatives discussed the layoffs at both University A and University B, noting that the unions would do everything in their power to protect faculty and staff's jobs, and to ensure that administrators at both universities abided by the stipulations of their union contracts (Buchman, 2015).

Despite the delayed savings in payroll and union contracts, University B still needed to make the layoffs due to declining enrollment. Other than University B's first round of layoffs, hiring freezes were still in effect and purchases were still on hold.

Administrator 3 noted: "I mean the delayed payment to vendors was a big deal 'cause we were on the phone with Ameren and Sodexo, and renegotiating contracts, or at least talking about what our options were." University B was also beginning to explore renegotiating contracts with major utility and service providers, which was possible thanks to amicable and longstanding relationships with private sector partners. Like University A, University B also passed a resolution to issue bonds for their Auxiliary Facilities System in April of 2016, therefore allowing themselves to access a fund that

was not normally available. This was due to the fact that at this point they had "expended all funds from the University Income Fund that were generated from tuition and other revenue sources" (University B, 2016).

The End of the Impasse

After two years of lawmakers trying to negotiate and pass a budget, enough votes to override a governor's veto were finally secured in July of 2017 (AP, 2017). This was possible because several Republican lawmakers broke with their party, a move that earned them condemnation and spite from their fellow Republican lawmakers (AP, 2017). Despite this, and despite the governor's fiscal concerns, Illinois once again had an appropriated budget. By this time, the state had been sued a multitude of times so that such services as law enforcement, K-12 education, and other "public good" agencies could continue to operate. As described by Administrator 2 at University A:

Now what happened was a lot of the other groups got taken care of, either by legal action or by some deal that they worked out between the governor and the legislature. But higher education does not have the same level of political influence.

Despite not having as much political capital as other services and agencies, higher education was not completely abandoned. As Administrator 1 at University A put it:

Year two, we got an appropriation of about 17 million. That was about 50% of what we had pre-impasse. The legislators made a little bit of accommodation, whatever you want to call it, to us because we were all hurting. Sadly, some were hurting more badly than others.

Although higher education was not among the services the state deemed a "public good," University A received \$17 million in appropriations of the missing appropriation from the first year of the impasse. Administrator 1 said:

And then what happened was that when they settled the budget impasse, they [the state] gave us, and I'm off the top of my head, 54 million. And that was the regular appropriation. The 38 million that we've been receiving year over year, and then they threw in about 15 million, 16 million from that 17 million year that we could carry forward and in theory reimburse ourselves.

The state of Illinois had delivered all the money that University A had come to expect and rely on, with the exception of the money owed before the impasse even began.

However, despite the delivery of funds two years later, the damage to University A had already been done.

As for University B, they too were reimbursed for the past two years, although like University A, the sacrifices they made would have long-lasting effects. According to Board of Trustee meeting minutes from their September session, they received funding for the rest of fiscal year 2017, while receiving a 10% cut in appropriations for fiscal year 2018 (University B, 2017). However, even then there was uncertainty as to whether there would be a state budget going into the 2018 election year, with one Trustee member stating: "we need to enjoy the predictability of this year's budget for the moment" (University B, 2017).

Research Question #2 – How are these universities planning to operate with reduced appropriated funds in the current and future years?

The New Normal

Recognizing that reduced appropriations could be the new reality for public higher education going forward, both University A and University B took away lessons in the aftermath of the budget impasse. The most important was the rebuilding of the reserves that both institutions had relied heavily on for payroll and other necessary expenses during the impasse. As Administrator 3 at University B put it:

I mean it didn't really change our process, we didn't have time to even change our process. One of the things it did was it forced us to really get some understanding of what this reserve was and what it can be used for, and the different types of reserves that we had. You know, which funds can we legally use? To sort of float, and which ones were on the fringe and if they were on the fringe, what kind of requirements existed if they were on the fringe? So, I don't know if it changed our planning, but it certainly allowed us to dig in and figure some of that stuff out that I think the university is better off for having that information.

Identifying what other reserves could be legally accessed during times of crisis was essential. Additionally, though University B didn't have time to change their process during the Illinois budget impasse, minutes from a July 2017 Board of Trustees retreat revealed that "the budget is the first step. We are not out of the woods and have to be as conservative and fiscally responsible as we have been in the past" (University B, 2017). Both universities still exercised extreme caution in expenditures, a phenomenon that is still present today. Administrator 1 at University A elaborated on the conversation around expending cash:

Some of that happened because of COVID, but we've been very reluctant to approve or to spend that money. We've been very reluctant to do improvements

around the university. To fix things, we're basically doing them on an as required basis...and we're just being very cautious in everything we do, and for a very good reason, you know. I mean, it's important for us to be fiscally responsible with our resources.

Caution still prevails in spending on capital projects, caution filling long-standing, open positions, and caution spending money in any form save for absolutely necessary maintenance and renovations.

The final, and perhaps the most important strategy, was a refrain heard often during both interviews and also evident in Board of Trustee meeting minutes: enrollment, enrollment, enrollment. When asked how to mitigate a future impasse, both administrators at University A and University B specifically named growing enrollment as a solution. University B administrators further mentioned diversifying revenue and provided services, and Administrator 2 at University A laid out a problem with focusing just on enrollment:

One word. Enrollment. That's the right word. I mean because we have to and that's the catch 22, is we need to make investments to make sure we keep our enrollment sector healthy and strong. But then we also have to protect against being in a position where we're overexposed.

The inherent conflict between conservative spending and pressure to raise enrollment has created a tension in contemplating future practices at University A. Renovations, new facilities, adequate staffing, and general campus appeal are all required to bring in new students and raise enrollment. However, these initiatives require

investment in the form of expenditures, which these universities have been conditioned to avoid in case something else like a budget impasse, or perhaps global pandemic, strikes again. This is in addition to the fact that both University A and University B have yet to rebuild the cash reserves expended during the impasse. Then there's the issue of personnel. As Administrator 1 at University A put it, "In general, we have not filled the positions that were laid off in '15 and '16." Regional state schools in Illinois will likely not fill many of the positions that were lost during the impasse. As personnel expenses account for 80% of appropriations, the prudent approach favors lean operations. The challenges begin in operating a university on a skeleton crew without overburdening the workforce. Administrator 3 at University B indicated that every regional state school in Illinois will need to figure out this challenge.

Research Question #3 – What future do administrators and policy makers envision for the higher education business model?

The Future of Higher Education and Appropriations

When asked about what lies in store for the business model of higher education, both administrators at University A and University B had several insights. One the one hand, capital projects and alumni giving, along with enrollment numbers, will become more important than ever. Administrator 4 at University B had an interesting addendum.

It's going to have to be a fundamental change and I don't think that is what public higher education is set to serve. Financially it's set up that way, and so if you're going to have a large fundamental shift, if we're not going to rely on state appropriations...so as we become less reliant, it's obviously less of a concern, but

it's still a significant concern because we only have so many better ways to bring in revenue and survive on a day-to-day basis.

In order for regional state schools to be better insulated against the volatility of state politics and appropriations, a fundamental shift in how they generate revenue will be required, with an emphasis on less dependance on state support. This is difficult, however, because of the manner in which state universities are constituted. They are by design reliant on state support, and only have so many avenues available to raise revenue. Furthermore, any drastic alterations to the funding model run the potential of running counter to the educational mission of higher education. Instead, Administrator 3 at University B envisioned two potential futures for higher education in Illinois. The first was an employee-partnership model in which large corporations, such as Amazon and Walmart, subsidized tuition in exchange for recruiting graduates. Administrator 3 claimed: "This is a possibility as an employer-based model where you partner with employers to ensure pipelines of students, and if they're willing to foot the bill for the tuition and give them a discount, they'll guarantee spots."

Another option for institutions as described by Administrator 3 was a future in which regional state schools duplicated services. All regional state schools are producing similar financial documents, answering to similar auditors, and are answering to the same state legislative acts that are handed down by Springfield. Rather than spending immense resources navigating these reporting requirements separately, Administrator 3 at University B suggested collaborating on a statewide system that would ease the personnel burden on individual regional state schools:

Can I work with the director of Financial Affairs at University A? I mean we're producing the same financial statements, we're answering to similar auditors, right? Like we are all subject to the same state legislative acts that are coming down. And we're having to comply, why are we both spending personnel time trying to figure out how to maneuver whatever act it is within our system? Separately, it's just inefficient, but can I still remain an employee of University B or even a member here in the local community but collaborate on a statewide system? I think we're probably closer than we were pre-pandemic to being able to kind of find a common ground of not affecting those local politics.

Summary

Two regional, public universities in the state of Illinois were caught unaware at the onset of fiscal year 2016 by the Illinois budget impasse, which resulted in an interruption of state appropriations. University A had built up reserves in part due to the unreliable nature of the delivery of appropriations in past years. University B also had reserves, but the delivery of appropriations were more reliable. Over the two years of the Illinois budget impasse, both universities would reduce personnel, restrict spending, and cover costs using their reserves. At the end of the impasse both universities received retroactive payments of appropriations, but by then their reserves were depleted and long-term damage had been done.

CHAPTER 5

In FY15, public universities across Illinois were navigating unreliable delivery of state appropriations, enrollment concerns, and an unfolding budgetary fight taking place in Springfield. By June of 2015, the battle over the FY2016 budget had turned into a legislative crisis: the legislature and the governor could not agree on a budget. Public universities were slow to recognize the full impact of what had happened. It became clear by the beginning of the fall semester that falling enrollment and unreliable appropriations were no longer regional state schools' chief concerns. There was no state budget, and therefore, there were no appropriations coming. No school could predict how long the deadlock in Springfield would last. Some acted quickly, such as University A, who was already struggling before the budget impasse. They reduced payroll, controlled expenses, and covered costs through the reserves they had built up over the years. Other universities, such as University B, quickly followed suit. By the end of the budget impasse the reserves were all but spent, positions that had been let go were not filled, and a regime of financial austerity had firmly taken root among state schools.

The emergent story of the Illinois budget impasse was the inherent challenge of binding state university appropriations to highly divisive political systems.

Administrators at both University A and University B acknowledged that the material conditions for another budget impasse are still in place. These administrators also said that regional state universities would not survive another significant interruption of appropriations. With this in mind, state universities, specifically regional universities, face a challenging path going forward: while expanding their limited political capital to secure a steady source of appropriations from the state, they must also work to identify

additional sources of revenue to avoid being a casualty of political standoffs. In addition, state universities must change the way in which they operate, with a mind towards continued vigilance and caution when considering hiring, capital projects, and other forms of spending. At its root, the Illinois budget impasse was a political problem that affected the funding and operations of public universities. Therefore, politics and funding are the areas that must be addressed.

Political Capital

Administrator 2 at University A noted that K-12 fared better during the budget impasse because "everyone has a kindergarten in their backyard" and public schooling was considered a "public good." Though it should be noted that K-12 public schooling does not receive as great a percentage of their financial operating costs from the state legislature as is the case with public universities. And higher education is not considered a public good to the same degree. In fact, some conservative lawmakers questioned the necessity of supporting public universities that only a percentage of the population uses. Despite the challenges by some to the necessity of public universities, there can be no question that they are major employers and incentivize graduates to stay in-state after gaining a degree. And the alternative, in which any of Illinois's twelve public universities are shuttered, would result in a significant loss of jobs as well as a great blow to the communities that both support them and rely on their presence.

But it is not so much a question of whether state universities are a public good or benefit Illinois, but rather whether they can survive being at the mercy of political wrangling in Springfield without taking an active role at the table. This question is complex, as both through the budget impasse and national conversations, higher

education has already become a politicized topic. Whether it's issues of free speech or social justice, universities are already seen in some circles as political actors. When universities engage in advocacy, even simply out of a desire to secure promised funding, they are open to criticism that they are being political. But it could be said that every industry is politicized to an extent in our current national landscape, and if one is already labeled as a political actor in one capacity or another, then it only makes sense to use that alleged political capital. Not to affect the culture, but rather to ensure that they do not become a pawn in a state-wide game of budgetary chicken.

This objective is primarily achieved through lobbying. Public universities are indeed represented in Springfield, however like fundraising, it is an often-neglected facet for state agencies that both rely on and answer to the state. The recent history of state appropriations has done little to inspire state agencies on the reliability of the appropriations process. Public universities are expected to operate with more independence than others, including advocating for themselves. Illinois's flagship university already understands this and goes to great lengths to ensure their needs are represented in Springfield. The flagship also invests more resources to undertake lobbying activities. With other state universities struggling to rebuild reserves and cover costs, this is a hurdle. Advocacy is necessary, however, as these universities are wed to the state.

Alternative Revenue

There is no question that reliance on state appropriations offers some risk. Some might see the risk as too great in light of what happened during the budget impasse, and thus seek out ways to mitigate fluctuating state support. But as administrators at

University B noted, there aren't many options available. The most obvious one is raising enrollment, and thereby increasing revenue from tuition and fees. However, enrollment challenges existed before the budget impasse began. Part of this was universities in other states realizing that Illinois high school graduates were up for grabs and poaching them with competitive tuition and attractive aid packages. The other issue was simple demographics. Illinois's population is in decline in line with other Midwestern states. This is consistent with a national trend of declining birthrates and the so-called "baby bust" stemming from the 2008 recession. Where will Illinois find students to boost enrollment? Like in other states, public universities in Illinois are looking towards populations with historically lower participation rates: first-generation students, underrepresented populations, and adult learners. These populations are also finite and out of state universities continue to aggressively recruit Illinois students. One possible solution is the expansion of online courses and programs. Already expanding before the COVID-19 lockdown, online learning removes the need for students to be physically present in the state of Illinois. The only hurdles to overcome are the high startup costs of necessary technology, faculty development, and the crowded and competitive market for online coursework.

Reducing an institution's reliance on state appropriations depends on many factors, and anything from a misstep in recruitment to a global pandemic could greatly affect the financial health of institutions. That is not to say that enrollment should not be a focus, but rather that it should be one of many. Another source of potential revenue is one private universities and colleges have long relied on: fundraising. Private institutions of higher education do not rely on state support, and therefore tuition revenue and alumni

giving have helped keep their doors open. State universities in Illinois already pursue this strategy to some degree and will need to invest more resources in cultivating external support.

A third option for enhanced revenue is partnerships. Whether this is the employer-collaboration model discussed by one administrator at University B, or something even more innovative, state schools must find a partner or partners with the ability to supplement what the state is funding. To some this may seem like a concession of defeat, perhaps premature. But to others, it is a pragmatic and tactful acknowledgement that state funding for higher education continues to be at risk.

Recommendations for Higher Education

At the onset of fiscal year 2016 a political standoff between Illinois legislature and the governor turned serious after a budget failed to pass. What followed were two years of impaired appropriations for regional public universities in Illinois. This forced these institutions to rely on reserves they had built up over the years, let go of faculty and staff, and restrict cash-flow to only the most necessary of expenditures. By the end of the impasse, regional state universities had learned valuable lessons about fiscal discipline and managing a university with limited personnel. They had also identified strategies for cash reserves and resources they could legally access in times of crisis.

In the future, increased investment in political capital, enrollment efforts, fundraising, and partnerships provide a multi-pronged approach to insulating a state university from unreliable state appropriations. Higher education is already in the midst of major disruptions. What started during the 2008 recession and continued up through

the COVID-19 pandemic may reach its zenith during the predicted 2026 enrollment cliff. With higher education pressured from multiple directions, a national realignment of interests may be necessary. Higher education represents one of the last great US exports, and state universities develop human capital that greatly increases the economic output of the country. But higher education also represents a battleground in what some refer to as the "culture war," so consensus must be reached that not only is higher education a public good, but also a reliable economic resource.

Appeals to the intrinsic economic value of universities will not be enough to change the public and legislative perception of higher education, especially for public universities that rely on state appropriations. Rather than hope that state or federal support increases, regional public universities should look towards innovative ways in which to supplement decreased funding. This includes fundraising and partnerships, and expanding online learning. Put simply, hoping for the best, but preparing for the worst.

Recommendations for Future Research

In the future, more research will be needed to gauge exactly what level of tuition revenue will be needed to be in order to offset falling state support. Several areas of possible research could include:

- A look at international markets and the appeal of American higher education for students from abroad would prove a great benefit to recruitment efforts.
- Research into first-generation recruitment, fundraising strategies, and potential partnerships with other industries would go a long way in figuring out how to

insulate state universities from inconsistent and politically vulnerable state appropriations.

- A deeper dive into the nature of state appropriations and the mechanisms by
 which they're funded will be necessary as states reconcile their budget issues.
- Finally, in light of the recent COVID-19 pandemic, a replication of this study to
 explore how public universities in other states navigated the pandemic would shed
 light on just what kind of disruptions the higher education business model can
 endure.

Conclusion

Public universities must recognize that the funding model for public higher education has fundamentally changed. Shrinking state support, changing demographics, and disruptive technology are all putting pressure on the higher education business model. With this in mind, public universities must change how they operate and take a more assertive role in deciding their future. This translates to advocating for themselves in state and federal legislatures, seeking out new sources of revenue, and operating under a culture of austerity even if there appears to be no immediate financial crisis. One thing is clear, regional universities can ill afford another disruption like they experienced in 2015-2017, and for at least two of them in Illinois, they have yet to recover from the damage.

REFERENCES

- Albright, A. (2019). Death Bell Tolling for Private Colleges Sounds Bondholder Alarm.

 Bloomberg.Com, N.PAG.*
- AAU(2021).https://www.aau.edu/sites/default/files/AAU%20Files/Key%20Issues/Taxati on%20%26%20Finance/HigherEdFin-Facts-0108.pdf
- Anticipating Nelson and Winter: Jack Downie's theory of evolutionary economic change.

 (1997). *Journal of Evolutionary Economics*, 7(2), 147.

 https://doi.org/10.1007/s001910050039
- AP (2017, July 6) *Illinois House approves state budget, ends historic impasse*. ABC7

 Eyewitness News. https://abc7chicago.com/illinois-budget-state-crisis-house/2187933/
- Baird, A. M., & Parayitam, S. (2019). Employers' ratings of importance of skills and competencies college graduates need to get hired: Evidence from the New England region of USA. *Education + Training*, 61(5), 622–634. https://doiorg.proxy1.library.eiu.edu/10.1108/ET-12-2018-0250
- Barney, J. B. (1987). An Evolutionary Theory of Economic Change. *Administrative Science Quarterly*, 32(2), 315–318. https://doi.org/10.2307/2393143
- Berman, J. (2017) State Colleges Receive the Same Amount of Funding From Tuition as from State Governments. Market Watch.

 https://www.marketwatch.com/story/state-colleges-receive-the-same-amount-of-funding-from-tuition-as-from-state-governments-2017-03-24
- Bezuidenhout, A. (2015). Implications for academic workload of the changing role of distance

- educators. Distance Education, 36, 246-262. 10.1080/01587919.2015.1055055
- BGA (2017, June 28). *History of Hurt: A Timeline of Illinois' Painful Budget Impasse*.

 Better Government Association. https://www.bettergov.org/news/history-of-hurt-timeline-of-illinois-painful-budget-impasse/
- Brown, S. (2017, July 21). As Illinois Budget Impasse Ends, So Does a "Nightmare of Total Uncertainty" for Its Public Colleges. *Chronicle of Higher Education*, 63(41), 1.
- Butchman, C. (2015, December 11th). Western Layoffs hit home for Eastern. *Daily Eastern News*, pg. 1.
- Butchman, C. (2015, December 14th). CUPB discusses budget, cost, efficiency. *Daily Eastern News*, pg. 1.
- Butrymowicz, S., & D'Amato, P. (2020, August 4th) *A Crisis is Looming for U.S Colleges, And Not Just Because of the Pandemic*. NBC News.

 https://www.nbcnews.com/news/education/crisis-looming-u-s-colleges-not-just-because-pandemic-n1235338
- Carey, K. (2020, May 5th) *The 'Public' in Public Education Could Be Endangered*. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2020/05/05/upshot/public-colleges-endangered-pandemic.html
- Chapman, C., Laird, J., Ifill, N., & KewalRamani, A. (2011). Trends in High School

 Dropout and Completion Rates in the United States: 1972-2009. Compendium

 Report. NCES 2012-006. *National Center for Education Statistics*.
- College Board. (2020). *Trends in College Pricing*. College Board. https://research.collegeboard.org/trends/college-pricing/highlights

- College Board. (2021). Trends in College Pricing and Student Aid 2021. College Board. https://research.collegeboard.org/media/pdf/trends-college-pricing-student-aid-2021.pdf
- Common Fund. (2018) 2018 HEPI Report Released.

 https://www.commonfund.org/research-center/press-releases/2018-hepi-report-released
- Creswell, J.W. (2007) Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing among Five Approaches. 3rd Edition, Sage, Thousand Oaks.
- Dabrowski, T., Klinger, J., (2020) *The History of Illinois's Fiscal Crisis*. Illinois Policy. https://www.illinoispolicy.org/reports/the-history-of-illinois-fiscal-crisis/
- Dabrowski, T., Klinger, J., (2017) *Moody's Downgrades 7 Universities*. Illinois Policy. https://www.illinoispolicy.org/moodys-downgrades-7-illinois-universities-5-are-junk/
- Dickler, J. (2021). 25% of Students Postponed College During COVID, Some

 Indefinitely. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2021/04/16/college-enrollment-sank-due-to-the-covid-pandemic.html
- Dickler, J. (2016). *College Costs Are Out of Control*. CNBC. https://www.cnbc.com/2016/07/12/college-costs-are-out-of-control.html
- Dopfer, K. (2005). Evolutionary economics: a theoretical framework. *The evolutionary foundations of economics*, 3-55.
- Dougherty, K. J., Natow, R. S., Bork, R. H., Jones, S. M., & Vega, B. E. (2013).

 Accounting For Higher Education Accountability: Political Origins of State

- Performance Funding for Higher Education. *Teachers College Record*, 115(1), 1–50.
- Education Unlimited, (2015, August 5th) https://www.educationunlimited.com/blog/how-many-universities-colleges-are-in-the-us/
- Frey, T. (2013). By 2030 Over 50% of Colleges Will Collapse: Part 1. *Journal of Environmental Health*, 76(3), 58–59.
- Frey, T. (2013). By 2030 Over 50% of Colleges Will Collapse: Part 2. *Journal of Environmental Health*, 76(4), 44–45.
- Grawe, N. (2018). *Demographics and Demand for Higher Education*. John Hopkins University Press
- Hemelt, S.W., Marcotte, D.E., (2011). The Impact of Tuition Increases on Enrollment at Public Colleges and Universities. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*.

 Vol. 33, No. 4, pp. 435-457 (23 pages). https://www.jstor.org/stable/41413066
- Horn, M.B. (2018, December 13th). Will Half of all Colleges Really Close in the Next

 Decade. Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/michaelhorn/2018/12/13/will-halfof-all-colleges-really-close-in-the-next-decade/?sh=6df9b76452e5
- Hudson, W. (1939). The Morison Myth concerning the Founding of Harvard College.
 Church History, 8(2), 148-159. Retrieved October 28, 2020, from
 http://www.jstor.org/stable/3160652
- Inazu, J. (2018). The Purpose (And Limits) of the University. *Utah Law Review*, 2018(5), 943–978.
- Kerkvliet, J., & Nowell, C. (2014). Public subsidies, tuition, and public universities' choices of undergraduate acceptance and retention rates in the USA. *Education*

- Economics, 22(6), 652–666. https://doiorg.proxy1.library.eiu.edu/10.1080/09645292.2012.659
- Kivistö, J. (2008). An assessment of agency theory as a framework for the government-university relationship. *Journal of Higher Education Policy & Management*, 30(4), 339–350. https://doi-org.proxy1.library.eiu.edu/10.1080/13600800802383018
- Kramer, D. (2017). Illinois budget impasse damaging state universities. *Physics Today*, 70(6), 32–34. https://doi.org/10.1063/PT.3.3590
- Kronk, H. (2018) *How Universities Make and Spend Money: Four Takeaways from the Latest NCES Report*. ELearning Inside. https://news.elearninginside.com/how-universities-make-and-spend-their-money-four-takeaways-from-the-latest-nces-report/
- Lederman, D. (2017, April 28th) *Clay Christensen, Doubling Down*. Inside Higher Ed. https://www.insidehighered.com/digital-learning/article/2017/04/28/clay-christensen-sticks-predictions-massive-college-closures
- Lassoued, Z., Alhendawi, M., & Bashitialshaaer, R. (2020). An Exploratory Study of the Obstacles for Achieving Quality in Distance Learning during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Education Sciences*, 10(9), 232.
- Marcus, J. (2019) *Most Americans Don't Realize State Funding for Higher Ed Fell By Billions*. PBS. https://www.pbs.org/newshour/education/most-americans-dont-realize-state-funding-for-higher-ed-fell-by-billions
- McGee K., (2020, December 6th). After COVID, a College Enrollment Crisis? New Data From Texas Show Declining FAFSA Applications, Fewer Students Signing Up.

The 74. https://www.the74million.org/article/after-covid-a-college-enrollment-crisis-new-data-from-texas-show-declining-fafsa-applications-fewer-students-signing-up/

- Mitchell, M. L. (2019). State Higher Education Funding Cuts Have Pushed Costs to Students, Worsened Inequality . Retrieved from Center on Budget and Policy Priorities: https://www.cbpp.org/research/state-budget-and-tax/state-higher-education-funding-cuts-have-pushed-costs-to-students
- Mitnick, B. (2013). Origin of the Theory of Agency: An Account By One of the Theory's Originators. *SSRN Electronic Journal*, 10.2139/ssrn.1020378
- Morgan, K. (2021, January 28th). *Degree Inflation: How the Four-Year Degree Became Required*. BBC. https://www.bbc.com/worklife/article/20210126-degree-inflation-how-the-four-year-degree-became-required
- Mortenson, T. G. (2012). State Funding: A Race to the Bottom. *Presidency*, 15(1), 26–29.
- Murakami, K. (2020) *The Next Financial Blow*. Inside Higher Ed.

 https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/04/13/public-colleges-face-looming-financial-blow-state-budget-cuts
- NCES. (2019). Fast facts: Tuition costs of colleges and universities (76). National Center for Education Statistics. https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=76

- Nelson, R., & Winter, S. (2002). Evolutionary Theorizing in Economics. *The Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 16(2), 23-46. Retrieved April 24, 2021, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2696495
- Orsolini, J. (2020). Why the Student Loan Crisis Is Everyone's Problem. *Journal of Financial Planning*, 33(1), 12–14.
- Pasadena City College. (2018) For-profit Vs. non-profit colleges and universities. https://pasadena.edu/academics/support/counseling/docs/articulation-agreements/For-profit_vs._nonprofit_colleges_and_universities.pdf
- Pavlov, O. V., & Katsamakas, E. (2020). Will colleges survive the storm of declining enrollments? A computational model. *PLoS ONE*, *15*(8), 1–29. https://doiorg.proxy1.library.eiu.edu/10.1371/journal.pone.0236872
- Pew (2019, October 15th) Two Decades of Change in Federal and State Higher Education Funding. https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/issue-briefs/2019/10/two-decades-of-change-in-federal-and-state-higher-education-funding
- Pew Charitable Trusts. (2015). Federal and state funding of higher education: A changing landscape.
- PBS. (2017, July 6th) *Illinois approves spending plan, ending nation's longest budget stalemate*. PBS News Hour. https://www.pbs.org/newshour/nation/illinois-vote-end-nations-longest-budget-stalemate
- Rhodes, D. (2019, March 12th). *Illinois losing even more high school graduates to out-of-state colleges*. chicagotribune.com.

- https://www.chicagotribune.com/news/breaking/ct-met-illinois-students-college-enrollment-out-of-state-20190312-story.html
- Seltzer, R. (2020, December 15th) *Birth Dearth Approaches*. Inside Higher Ed. https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/12/15/more-high-school-graduates-through-2025-pool-still-shrinks-afterward
- Startz, D. (2017, January 31st) Sealing the Border Could Block One of America's Crucial Exports: Education. Brown Center Chalkboard.

 https://www.brookings.edu/blog/brown-center-chalkboard/2017/01/31/sealing-the-border-could-block-one-of-americas-crucial-exports-education/
- State of Illinois Comptroller (2021). https://illinoiscomptroller.gov/financial-data/find-a-report/special-fiscal/consequences-of-illinois-2015-2017-budget-impasse-and-fiscal-outlook/
- TBS Staff (2019). For-Profit Colleges vs. Non-Profit Colleges What's the Difference?

 The Best Schools: https://thebestschools.org/magazine/for-profit-vs-non-profit/
- The Illinois Update (2021) *Illinois Public Universities were harmed by state budget impasse*. The Illinois Update. https://illinoisupdate.com/2017/09/06/illinois-public-universities-damaged-by-state-budget-impasse/
- Thelin, J. R., Edwards, J. R., Moyen, E., Berger, J. B., & Calkins, M. V. (2022). *Higher education in the United States*. Education Encyclopedia StateUniversity.com StateUniversity. https://education.stateuniversity.com/pages/2044/Higher-Education-in-United-States.html
- Toner, M. (2015). The Highly Endangered Higher Education Business Model (and How to Fix It). *Presidency*, 15–18.

- Ulbrich, T.R., Kirk, L.M. (2017) It's Time to Broaden the Conversation About the Student Debt Crisis Beyond Rising Tuition Costs. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*. 2017; 81 (6) Article 101.
- University A. (2015, June 26th) *Meeting of the Board of Trustees*. Board Minutes, Reports, & Agendas.
- University A. (2015, June 27th) *Meeting of the Board of Trustees*. Board Minutes, Reports, & Agendas.
- University A. (2016) Concerning the Budget Impasse. Faculty Senate Resolutions.

 https://thekeep.eiu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1009&context=fac_senate_resolutions
- University A. (2016, June 24th) *Meeting of the Board of Trustees*. Board Minutes, Reports, & Agendas.
- University B. (2015, June 12th) *Minutes of Meeting*. Board of Trustees Meeting Agendas & Materials.
- University B. (2015, July 9th) *Minutes of the Retreat*. Board of Trustees Meeting Agendas & Materials.
- University B. (2016, April 20th) *Minutes of the Retreat*. Board of Trustees Meeting Agendas & Materials.
- University B. (2017, July 13th) *Minutes of the Retreat*. Board of Trustees Meeting Agendas & Materials.
- University B. (2017, September 29th) *Minutes of Meeting*. Board of Trustees Meeting Agendas & Materials.

- Weissman, S. (2020). It's a Different World. *Diverse: Issues in Higher Education*, 37(4), 10–12.
- Whitford, E. (2020). *Public Higher Ed Funding Still Has Not Recovered Since the 2008**Recession. Inside Higher Ed.

 https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2020/05/05/public-higher-education-worse-spot-ever-heading-recession
- Woodhouse, K. (2015, September 28th) *Closures to Triple*. Inside Higher Ed. https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2015/09/28/moodys-predicts-college-closures-triple-2017
- Yin, R. K. (2011). Qualitative research from start to finish. The Guilford Press.

APPENDIX A

Interview Questions

- 1. Can you describe how your institution was utilizing state funds in the few fiscal years prior to the state impasse?
- 2. In the fiscal year 15' before impasse, what percentage of your university's overall budget was made up of state appropriations?
- 3. What was the initial atmosphere and opinion at your institution as the budget impasse unfolded?
- 4. Prior to the impasse, what was your area of oversight's projection in terms of your budget?
- 5. When the budget impasse occurred, what were some of your institution's immediate actions and reactions during the first 3 months? Later on in the fiscal year? Fiscal year two of the impasse?
- 6. At the beginning of the impasse, what specific strategies were undertaken to respond to the lack of appropriated funds?
- 7. As the length of the impasse grew, what further strategies, if any, were developed?
- 8. Did your institution change its long-term budget planning due to the budget impasse?
- 9. What changes did your institution implement that you think will be permanent?
- 10. Going forward what are some steps that you would want to take today to insulate your institution from a future impasse?

- 11. Are there any examples of interventions/changes/practices that other institutions deployed to increase non appropriated revenue that you think are worth pursuing for Illinois public schools?
- 12. What expectations do you have for the state appropriation for the next ten years?

Informed Consent

CONSENT TO PARTICIPATE IN RESEARCH

The Illinois Budget Impasse and Higher Education: A Case Study

You are invited to participate in a research study conducted by Colin Roberts from the College of Student Affairs at Eastern Illinois University.

Your participation in this study is entirely voluntary. Please ask questions about anything you do not understand, before deciding whether or not to participate.

PURPOSE OF THE STUDY

To detail in a case study the 2015 Budget impasse and its effects on Illinois public universities.

PROCEDURES

If you volunteer to participate in this study, you will be asked to:

Participate in an interview regarding your university and their reaction to the Illinois Budget impasse, both in its official capacity and in the consequences relating to that.

• POTENTIAL RISKS AND DISCOMFORTS

All answers will be anonymous; however, some questions may be triggering if subject feels uncomfortable about the impasse years.

POTENTIAL BENEFITS TO SUBJECTS AND/OR TO SOCIETY

Subject will not benefit directly from research, however research will go towards potentially benefiting industry subject is a part of.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Any information that is obtained in connection with this study and that can be identified with you will remain confidential and will be disclosed only with your permission or as required by law. Confidentiality will be maintained by means of data encryption and data erasure three years after completion of research

PARTICIPATION AND WITHDRAWAL

Participation in this research study is voluntary and not a requirement or a condition for being the recipient of benefits or services from Eastern Illinois University or any other organization sponsoring the research project. If you volunteer to be in this study, you may withdraw at any time without consequences of any kind or loss of benefits or services to which you are otherwise entitled.

There is no penalty if you withdraw from the study and you will not lose any benefits to which you are otherwise entitled.

You may also refuse to answer any questions you do not want to answer.

If you have any questions or concerns about this research, please contact:

Dr. Ken Wetstein

Thesis Advisor

217.581.5129

kawetstein@eiu.edu

RIGHTS OF RESEARCH SUBJECTS

If you have any questions or concerns about the treatment of human participants in this study, you may call or write:

Institutional Review Board

Eastern Illinois University

600 Lincoln Ave.

Charleston, IL 61920

Telephone: (217) 581-8576

E-mail: eiuirb@eiu.edu

You will be given the opportunity to discuss any questions about your rights as a research subject with a member of the IRB. The IRB is an independent committee composed of members of the University community, as well as lay members of the community not connected with EIU. The IRB has reviewed and approved this study.

I voluntarily agree to participate in this study. I un and discontinue my participation at any time. I have	
Printed Name of Participant	
Signature of Participant	Date
I, the undersigned, have defined and fully explaine	ed the investigation to the above subject.
Signature of Investigator	Date